
 

 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 

 

Date: Tuesday 29th November, 2022 
Time: 1.00 pm 

Venue: Mandela room 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 
1.   Welcome and evacuation procedure 

 
 

  

2.   Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
 

  

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

4.   Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board- 18 October 2022 
 
 

 3 - 14 

5.   Ofsted Update 
 
The Board will provided with some information relating to the 
recent Ofsted visit. 
 
 

  

6.   Kingfisher report 
 
Chief Inspector Deb Fenny, will present the Kingfisher report 
and discuss the request of becoming a corporate 
grandparent. 
 
 

 15 - 34 

7.   Participation of Children and Young People 
 
Kathy Peacock, Voice and Influence Manager will be in 
attendance to provide an update to the Board. She will be 
joined by Adam Hart, CAMHS / HeadStart Apprentice and 

 35 - 36 

Page 1



 

Xavier Davies, Apprentice Youth Training & Development 
Officer. 
 
 

8.   Performance against Corporate Parenting Board Strategy 
 
Rachel Farnham, Director of Children’s care will present the 
scorecard. 
 
 

  

9.   The PROCLAIM initiative 
 
Victoria Banks, Virtual School Head will present the 
PROCLAIM initiative. 
 
 

 37 - 56 

10.   South Tees Youth Offending Service 
 
Kay Dargue, Head of Service will provide the annual update 
with specific reference to children looked after. 
 
 

 57 - 62 

11.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Monday 21 November 2022 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors C Hobson (Chair), D Davison (Vice-Chair), B Cooper, D Coupe, A Hellaoui, 
T Higgins, M Saunders, Z Uddin and J Walker 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Susie Blood, 01642 729645, susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



Corporate Parenting Board 18 October 2022 
 

 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 
A meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board was held on Tuesday 18 October 2022. 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors C Hobson (Chair), B Cooper, D Coupe, A Hellaoui, T Higgins, 
M Saunders, Z Uddin and J Walker 
 

 
PRESENT BY 
INVITATION: 

Councillors C Dodds  

 
ALSO IN 
ATTENDANCE: 

M Smallman (Children in Care Specialist Nurse) 

 
OFFICERS: V Banks, S Blood, R Brown, S Butcher, T Dunn, P Jemson, A Hart and K Peacock 
 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

Councillors D Davison, M Smiles, Davies, R Farnham, Jefferson, T Parkinson, 
D fenny, Dunning, G Nicholson and Beevers 

 
22/1 WELCOME AND EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

 
 The Chair welcomed members and officers to the meeting and discussed the fire evacuation 

procedure. 
 

22/2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 Apologies for Absence 
 

22/3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting.  
 

22/4 MINUTES- CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD- 14 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 

 The minutes of the Corporate Parenting Board meeting held on 14 September 2022 were read 
and agreed as a true record. 
 

22/5 HDFT CHILDREN IN CARE PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 

 The Chair welcomed Monica Smallman, Specialist Nurse Children in Care to the meeting to 
provide the Board with the HDFT Children in Care Performance Report and to share with the 
Board share with the board the new commissioning arrangements under the Tees Valley 
Children in Care (CiC) Service and to also update board with progress to date. 
 
The specialist nurse firstly provided the board with some background information, advising the 

Board that from 01st April 2022 the responsibility of initial health assessments (IHA’s) and 

review health assessments (RHA’s) for South Tees NHS Trust was amalgamated into a Tees 

Valley Children in Care contract. 

 

HDFT is responsible for the timely co-ordination of Initial health assessments (IHA’s) which 

includes gathering consent and pertinent health and social information on a child entering the 

care system to inform the IHA appointment. The IHA appointment is completed by the acute 

hospital trust and disseminated to social care. 

 

The Specialist nurse advised that it was the responsibility of the Tees Valley Children in Care 

(TV CiC) service to co-ordinate and undertake review health assessments for any child in care 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



18 October 2022 

 

in the borough of Middlesbrough. Tees Valley Children in Care practitioners will also 

undertake RHA’s for a child placed out of area within a 30-mile radius of their home address. 

 

The board were made aware that the Tees Valley Children in Care service was made up of 

the following: 

 0.5 WTE Band 8a Named Nurse Children in Care 

 1.0 WTE Band 7 Specialist Nurse Children in Care 

 4.1 WTE Band 6 Nurse Children in Care 

 4.1 WTE Band 5 Staff Nurse Children in Care 

 0.9 WTE Band 4 Data & Analyst Administrator 

 2.9 WTE Band 3 Administrator 

Review health assessments are undertaken with the best interests of the child at the heart of 

interventions. The service liaise with caseload holders (Health Visitors and School Nurses) 

prior to and following the review health assessments to ensure that the assessment is 

informed and is a holistic approach. 

Since the transfer of responsibility to HDFT are notified by the Local Authority of a child 

entering the care system and they collate notification consent and book the child onto the 

clinic via Cammis. These need to be completed within 20 days. The specialist nurse advised 

that the only time that there would be a delay in completed the initial health assessment would 

be if the doctor was on annual leave.  

The report provided to the Board advised that there have been significant, ongoing challenges 

in relation to IHA compliance which HDFT, the local authority and the acute hospital trust 

recognise and are working in an attempt to rectify the situation.  

All three partners meet on a weekly basis and discuss any outstanding IHA appointments, 

establish if additional clinic appointments are required and liaise in relation to child was not 

brought. HDFT have also raised with the local authority that a delay in providing notification 

consents is creating a delay in the child being booked to attend for an IHA. 

It remains the responsibility of the social worker to notify the parent / carer of the appointment 

details and if for whatever reason the appointment is to be cancelled / rearranged then this 

must be agreed by the service manager. 

 

Review health assessments 

The report and specialist nurse provided some statistics surrounding the Review health 

assessments.  

 

Compliance to Review Health Assessments (RHA) completed within the timeframe of 6 

monthly for children under 5 years. 

Middlesbrough 

Under 5-Year % in timescales   

Q1 April Q1 May Q1 June Q2 July 

Page 4



18 October 2022 

 

70% 83.3% 80% 75.0% 

 

Compliance to Review Health Assessments (RHA) completed within the timeframe of 12 

monthly for children over 5-15 years. 

Middlesbrough 

5-15 year % in timescales   

Q1 April Q1 May Q1 June Q2 July 

56.3% 73.3% 56.2% 100% 

 

Compliance to Review Health Assessments (RHA) completed within the timeframe of 12 

monthly for children over 16+ years. 

Middlesbrough 

16+ year % in timescales   

Q1 April Q1 May Q1 June Q2 July 

60% 66.7% 55.6% 71.4% 

 

The Specialist nurse advised that challenges that have contributed to the timely compliance 

being less than desirable were as follows: 

 Child living out of area (beyond a 30-mile radius) and the RHA request not being 

undertaken within timescales. 

 Placement changes for Children in care and the Tees Valley Children in care service 

not being notified of the placement change. 

 Staffing capacity throughout the mobilisation of the Tees Valley Children in care 

service. 

 By request of the young person due to exams. 

 

In previous meetings, the board has been made aware of issues of children in care receiving 

denatl care despite some children being subject to care orders.  

 

Prior to HDFT becoming responsible for Children in care in Middlesbrough there was 

extensive work undertaken in relation to a Dental Health Pathway. This continues to be a work 

in progress and it is anticipated that it will be embedded in practice by November 2022. 

 

The Specialist Nurse also advised the board of a School Based Immunisation & Children in 

care Pathway that ensures the immunisation uptake for Children in care is satisfactory. This 

has been devised and implemented into practice since May 2022 and as a result we have 

been successful in 3 Children in care having their outstanding immunisations administered.  

The Specialist nurse advised that further data on the pathways programme would be able to 

be provided at the next presentation to the board. 

 

AGREED- That the information provided be noted. 

 

Page 5



18 October 2022 

 

22/6 PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 

 The Chair welcomed Kathy Peacock, Voice and Influence Manager and Adam Hart, CAMHS / 
HeadStart Business Administrator Apprentice who were in attendance to provide the standard 
item update relating to activities of our care experienced young people 15 September 2022-18 
October 2022.  
 
Adam provided further information to the Board on the following activities: 
 

1. Delivered their second communications and language training (four 
professions attended) and delivered this training online to 32 staff during 
practice week. 

2. First pop up café was held on 21 September 2022 looking at training and 
employment. The second on 28 September looking at positive relationships- 
family and friends and the third on 5 October 2022 looking at emotional 
wellbeing and health. 

3. Virtual school took over the Children in care council on 4 October 2022 and 
played education Jenga. They discussed how to increase attendance at 
personal education plan (PEP) meetings and suggestions including a voucher 
or as simple as a cup of tea and biscuit, where young people felt valued and 
respected. 

4. Children in care council met 24 other looked children young people at their 
Jump 360 engagement event on 5 October 2022. It was fun but very loud! 

 
The Board also heard about the activities that the care experienced people plan over the next 
few months, including: 
 

1. 4th pop up café will be held on 12 October 2022 focusing on somewhere to call 
home and finances. 

2. 5th pop up café will be held on 19 October 2022 focusing on having a voice 
and being heard and our rights and responsibilities. 

3. The participation team will be planning a celebratory /party for care leavers. 
4. Children in Care council have been planning their Christmas party. The Voice 

and Influence Manager stated that the young people had a dream to have this 
in Acklam hall and the Board would contact them to see if this could be made 
possible. 

 
The Manager also outlined that Care leavers week would be taking place between 24- 28 
October 2022 and that a programme would be sent round to members of the Corporate 
parenting board in due course. Any donations of pumpkins would be most welcome. 
 
AGREED 

1. That the information be noted. 
2. That the Chair of Corporate Parenting Board make contact with Acklam 

Hall regarding the possibility of hosting the CICC Christmas party. 
 
 

22/7 PERFORMANCE AGAINST CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD STRATEGY 
 

 The Head of Looked after Children and Corporate Parenting was in attendance and provided 
the Board with information relating to the Corporate Parenting Board scorecard. 
  
The Head of Service advised that the scorecard was in place for the Corporate Parenting 
Board to see how our performance was progressing and have the opportunity to challenge. 
 
Key findings September 2022 were as follows: 
  
CP1: Number of children in Care in Middlesbrough- Trend 

 Number of children and young people open to social care, in particular Children 
looked after shows a fluctuated trend since September 2021. 

 Children looked after numbers vastly improved. They dropped down below the 500 

Page 6



18 October 2022 

 

mark in January 2022, reaching 522 in August 2022- a 1% decrease prior to last 
month. 

 Children looked after are down 2.6% in comparison to 12 month prior. 
 

CP2: gap between Middlesbrough and Regional Children in Care (CiC) per 
10,000- trend 

 The rate of Looked after children per 10,000 shows a fluctuating trend in the last 12 
months reaching the lowest rate in January 2022 at 39.91.  

 The rate increased in recent months, reaching 53.49 in August 2022- thought this had 
recently decreased in September 2022 to 49.57  

 Middlesbrough remain above all external benchmarks, and have fallen below our 
2020/21 outturn. 

  
CP3: Ration of children entering to leaving care- Trend 

·         The number of children starting a period of care remaining stable, until recent months when 
the ratio increased. Scorecard shows that in August 2022, for every 09. Children starting care 
1 ceased. The ratio still remains below the 2020/21 

 
 
 
CP4: Average number of weeks children spend in care (Ceasing care in month) –Trend 

·         The average number of weeks children spend in care has shown a fluctuating trend in the 
last 12 months. The number of weeks reached a highest in May 2022 at 182.00. 

 In September 2022 the average number of weeks increased, exceeded the 
2021/22 target (132.40), reaching 139.10. 

 
CP5: FTE caseloads between 15-20 – trend 
 
FTE caseloads between 15-20 reveals the peak caseload % was in July 2022 at 57%. The % 
has since decreased to 59% in September 2022 and remain above the 2022/21 target 
(44.70%) 
 
The Head of Service advised of the following in terms of staffing and caseloads: 
 
Looked After teams – There were currently 15 social workers across the three looked after.  
This equates to an average of 17 cases per social worker.  There were 17 posts in the 
establishment.  They have an average of 12 families each.  There are two vacant posts in the 
service that are not covered. 
 
Pathways Social Workers– There were currently 3.5 social workers carrying a combined 
caseload of 80 children and young people.  There were 4 vacant social work posts not 
recruited to, 3 of which were covered with agency staff.  1 post was not currently covered.  
This was an average caseload of 120. They have an average of 20 families.  
 
There were 8 Pas currently covering 9 PA posts.  They have a current average caseload of 20 
young people.  Social workers were supporting capacity for PAs and hold 30 young people. 
 
CP7: % of CIC where plan of permanence has been ratified- trend 
The % of children in care where a plan of permanence has been agreed has remained above 
the 2020/21 target for the last 12 months remaining at 100% for the last 9 months. 
 
This highlights that the timescales of permanence agreements are significantly improving.  
 
CP8: % of permanence arrangements resulting in SGO- Trend 
 
The % of permanence arrangements resulting in SGO remains above or meets the 2020-21 
target of 20% in the last 12 months. The % reached 21% in September 2022. 
 
This shows great improvements across Children’s social care in regards to the reasoning of 
cla ceasing.  
 
 
CP9: % of ciC placed with parents on care orders at home- trend 

Page 7



18 October 2022 

 

There was currently 51 children placed at home with a parent.  This had increased from the 
lowest point in February when there were 41 children recorded as being cared for at home by 
a parent. 
This has reduced from an overall high of 99 children in September 2020. 
This was an overall reduction of 48.4% 
 
 
CP10:% of children who ceased to be looked after in the period who were adopted- 
trend 
The % of children who ceased to be looked after in the period who were adopted has 
remained relatively stable across the last 12 months.  In September 2022 the % reached 11% 
the same % as last month and a 1% increase in comparison to 12 month prior  
 
CP13% of CiC in inhouse foster placement – 12 month trend 
The % of inhouse foster carer placements has remained relatively stable in the last 12 
months. The % remains below the 21% 2020/21 target in September 2022 reaching 19% - 
0.40% in comparison to 12 months prior. 
 
CP14- % of CiC placed with connected carers – 12 month trend 
The % of connected carer placements has slightly fluctuated in the last 12 months. The % 

remains below the 2020/21 target of 29% across all months recorded. In September 2022 the 

% reached 24.50% -0.55 % in comparison to 12 month prior. 

 

CP23- % of care leavers in EET- trend 

The % of care leavers in EET is relatively stable across all recorded months remaining below 

the 2020/21 target 54%. 

The highest recorded % was in May 2022 at 5.1% this has since decreased -1% to 50% in 

September 2022. 

 

Finally, the manager provided information on CP24 - % of care leavers in suitable 

accommodation – 12 month trend. The % of care leavers in suitable accommodation remains 

below the 2020/21 target. 95% for all recorded months.  In September 2022 the % reached 

89% +1% in comparison to 12 month prior. 

 

Following the presentation, there was some discussion surrounding suitable accommodation 

for care leavers. It was agreed that Thirteen would be writing to in relation to their support for 

care leavers and attendance at the Board. 

 

AGREED 

1. That the information be noted 

2. That the Chair formally write to Thirteen. 

 
22/8 CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD STRATEGY ACTION PLAN- PERMANENCE 

 
 The Head of Looked after children and corporate parenting board provided the board with 

regard to progress made again the Permanence action plan. 
 
The six priorities were as follows: 
 

1. Strengthening Permanency in Our Social Work Practice 
2. Growing Our Multi-Agency Partnerships for Permanency 
3. Reducing Drift and Delay for Achieving Permanency 

Page 8



18 October 2022 

 

4. Improving the Way we capture and Use Our Data for Permanency 
5. Supporting Permanency in Education, Employment & Training 
6. Supporting Permanency in Education, Employment & Training 

 
The Manager went through each of the priorities and identified what has been achieved since 
the action plan had been last updated. Full details of these were outlined in the report which 
had been circulated to the Board prior to the meeting. 
 
The Manager outlined the impact/ data and performance; these being: 
 
 
 

 Overall in the lasts 12 months, the looked after populations has reduced from 
544 children in August 2021 to 535 in August 2022 (1.6% reduction).  There 
has been a 23.7% reduction in the overall numbers of looked after children 
since the height of 702 in September 2020.   

 

 The rate per 10,000 has reduced from 164.2 in August 2021 to 161.5 in 
August 2022.   
 

 In 21/22, 24 children secured Adoption Orders.  This was significantly higher 
than any of the neighboring authorities.   
 

 The average number of days our children wait between securing a Placement 
Order and being matched to an adoptive family has reduced for 301 days in 
20/21 to 189 days 21/22 
 

 There has been a total of 50 children secure permanence through the granting 
of a Special Guardianship Orders in the last 12 months.    

 

 Connected Carers – There are currently 141 children in connected carers 
placements.  This has reduced from a height of 212 in 2020. This is a 
reduction of 33.4%.  The trend is showing an increase in the number of 
children in Connected Carers placements.  

 

 Placement with Parents – There are currently 51 children placed with parents.  
This has reduced from a height of 99 children in September 2020 (48.4% 
reduction) 

 

 There have been no looked after children permanently excluded from school 
in the last 5 years. 
 

 There has been a 12.8% reduction in school suspension from 2019/20 to 
2021/22 

 

 Only 1.3% of looked after children are receiving less than 25 hours education 
(7 children).  Of which there is an action plan and oversight from Virtual 
School with regards to each child.   

 
 
In terms of risks: 
 

 The increase in demand across the service and across the tees valley region 

 Risks associated with the recruitment of staff in the looked after and care 

leaving service. 

Finally, the manager provided information on the next steps: 
 

 Life Story Work compliance and quality to continue be driven 

Page 9



18 October 2022 

 

 Progress the commissioning of Arcbox to support the quality of Life Story 

Work  

 The ongoing reduction and tracking of the number of children residing in 

external residential placements 

 Progress the Permanence Action Plan and report to Improvement Board and 

Corporate Parenting Board 

 Practice leads deployed in to the service to improve the quality of care plans 

for looked after children 

 Participation People to develop attendance and provide Corporate Parenting 

Board with a proposed plan for the Children in Care Council. 

 Recruitment of permanent staff 

 Practice Week in October 2022 to support staff development 

 
22/9 CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD STRATEGY ACTION PLAN- SUFFICIENCY 

 
 The Chair welcomed the Specialist Commissioning & Procurement Senior Manager to the 

meeting to provide an update of the highlight report of the Sufficiency action plan which was 
devised out the Corporate Parenting Board Strategy. 
  
The Sufficiency Action Plan would be reviewed and updated as actions were completed or as 
new work was identified in the event of any changes to our sufficiency needs over the 3-year 
cycle of our plan. The Board last received an update in January 2022. 
  
As with the Permanency action plan, the Sufficiency action plan was broken up into 6 themed 
areas, with a key accountable officer who works closely with the Manager. 
  
The themes were as follows: 
  
Theme 1 - Strengthening Commissioning for Children and Young People 
Theme 2 – Increasing Placements Close to where Children and Young People live and learn 
Theme 3 – Growing Early Intervention & Prevention 
Theme 4 – Improving Placements & Support for Care Leavers 
Theme 5 – Enhancing Learning Outcomes for Children & Young People 
Theme 6 – Building Our Fostering Capacity and Adoption Outcomes 
  
The Manager went through each of the priorities and identified what has been achieved since 
the action plan had been last updated. Full details of these were outlined in the report which 
had been circulated to the Board prior to the meeting.  
  
The Manager outlined the impact/ data and performance; these being: 
  

·         Weekly reporting on all residential placements activity continues and is providing 
greater level of data on placement changes and needs. 

·      In terms of risks: Staffing continues to be a national issue in a number of areas and 
work to ensure levels of staffing both internally and externally continue. She also 
advised that agency staff were being utilised and work to improve recruitment was 
ongoing.  

 In terms of next steps, the Manager stated that a full refresh of the commissioning action plan 
was needed and would be completed by the end of October 2022. 
 
The Manager was thanked for her presentation. 
  
AGREED- That the action plan be noted. 
 

22/10 INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER (IRO) ANNUAL REPORT 

Page 10



18 October 2022 

 

 
 The Chair introduced the Interim RAD Manager/Practice Lead who was in 

attendance to provide an overview of the Independent reviewing officer 9IRO) 
annual report. 
 
The key areas discussed were as follows: 
 

 The report covered the period from the 1st April 2021 to 31st March 
2022.   

 The report was a statutory requirement under Section 7, paragraph 11 
of the IRO Handbook, which sets out that the manager of the IRO 
Service must provide an annual report on the delivery of the IRO 
Service which can then be scrutinised by members of the Corporate 
Parenting Board. It provides information on the Independent Reviewing 
Officers (IROs) and their contribution to improving outcomes for 
children in care and young people leaving care.  

 In Middlesbrough, the IROs have a dual role and therefore this report 
includes consideration of those children subject to a Child Protection 
Plan. 

In summary the purpose of an IRO is to:- 

 Monitor the activity of the local authority as a corporate parent in 
ensuring that care plans have given proper consideration and weight to 
the child’s wishes and feelings and that, where appropriate, the child 
fully understands 

 Offer a safeguard to prevent any ‘drift’ in care planning for looked after 
children and the delivery of services to them; 

 Promote the child’s voice 

 

Progress 

 

Children in our Care 

 

OFSTED’s Monitoring Visit of March 2022 regarding planning and decision 

making for children in care reported that:-  

 There is an improved oversight of independent reviewing officers.  Mid-

point reviews between the IRO and the social worker keep plans on 

track.  Children know their IRO and are visited by them before their 

review.  This is ensuring that children’s views are known and are 

informing care planning. 

 

 This view was confirmed by our own oversight of IRO practice through 

performance and quality assurance activity which indicates 

improvements in practice for IROs over 2021/22. 

Page 11



18 October 2022 

 

 There were improvements in the timeliness of Reviews for children in 

our care with 82% in time compared to 65% in 2020/21. 

 There was an increase in children and young people being seen and 

spoken to prior to their review by their IRO (68% of reviews, a 25% 

increase on 2020/21) 

 There was cumulative evidence through increased visits and midway 

reviews of a 52% increase of the IRO footprint on the child’s record 

compared with 2020/21 

 Use of IRO challenge through the Issues Resolution Process was 

sustained over 2021/22 with 80 challenges made to make sure plans 

for children in our care meet their needs. 

 

Child Protection 

Over 2021/22, there were improvements in the timescales for child protection 

conferences with 83% of initial child protection conference in time compared to 

65% in 2020/21 and 78% of child protection plans being reviewed in time 

compared to 69% in 2020/21 

The evidence of IRO oversight including use of midway reviews, on case 

records improved by 20% since last year. 

IROs raised 70 issues regarding children subject to child protection plans to 

make sure they received an appropriate response to their needs. 

 

Areas for Improvement 

The IRO improvement journey will remain closely linked to the Children’s 

Services’ Improvement Plan and their priorities for 2022/23 are to make sure 

that practice across the Team is consistently of a high standard. 

This includes:-    

 Improve compliance with key performance indicators Increase child 

participation in meetings about them, including use of advocacy 

 Strengthen the IRO engagement with children through visits and regular 

contact between reviews 

 Gather the views of parents and carers regarding their experience of 

conferences and reviews 

Page 12



18 October 2022 

 

 Embedded use of Mid-way reviews to  drive planning for children 

 increased continuous oversight for those children without stability and 

permanence 

 Strengthen the impact of IRO Challenge and demonstrate IROs have 

high aspirations for Middlesbrough children  

 IROs contribute to the overall practice priorities of Children’s Services 

by monitoring quality of performance and informing learning and 

development.  

 

The officer was thanked for her presentation. 
 
AGREED- that the information be noted. 
 

22/11 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, MAY BE 
CONSIDERED. 
 

 No items. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



GWatson2022             A partnership committed to keeping children safe and working together to achieve the best possible 
outcomes for children and families. 

 

 
 

 

Councillor Chris Hobson 

Middlesbrough Council 

Chair of the Corporate Parenting Board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Councillor Hobson, 
 
Subject: CSPR Kingfisher: Corporate Grandparent 
 
A recent Child Safeguarding Practice Review (CSPR) “KINGFISHER” recommended that the South 
Tees Safeguarding Children Partnership approach the Corporate Parenting Board to ask them to 
consider how they can develop the concept of being a positive ‘corporate grandparent’ to the children 
of care leavers. 
 
The CSPR report was exploring the concept in-line with the corporate responsibilities for agencies for 
care leavers who are parents. As chair of the STSCP Learning & Development group I would like to 
propose I attend the next available Corporate Parenting Board to discuss matter. Please see enclosed 
a copy of the Kingfisher Report for your information and consideration.    
 
You will need no reminding I know that the safeguarding challenge in the South Tees area and indeed 
across the Tees and wider region is both diverse and significant and that although there is much good 
work to report on, there is no room for complacency on the part of any agency.   The safety and welfare 
of our children and young people must remain a top priority. 
 
If you have any further queries or requirements please contact Gary Watson the South Tees 
Safeguarding Children Partnership Business Manager at gary_watson@middlesbrough.gov.uk or 
telephone 01642 728704 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

Deb Fenny 

Detective Chief Inspector 
Deb Fenny 
Chair of the STSCP L&D Group 

 

South Tees Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 
Third Floor 
Middlesbrough House 
Middlesbrough 
TS1 2RH 

Email:  STSCP@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Tel:  01642 728704  

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

mailto:STSCP@middlesbrough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Final 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Kingfisher  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author: Nicki Pettit 

Page 17



 
Final 
 

2 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Kingfisher  

Contents 

1 Introduction to the review Page 1 

2 Process Page 2 

4 Identification of learning Page 3 

5 Conclusion and Recommendations Page 16 

 
 

 

       Introduction to the review 

1. This review considers systems and practice within and between partner agencies in the South Tees 

area specifically with regard to the assessment and safeguarding of children where there are concerns 

about neglect.  

2. In order to identify learning and good practice, and to consider the need for improvement action, the 

review reflected on two cases where the neglect of young children featured.   

3. The learning identified is in relation to: 

 The importance of knowing and considering a parents history and vulnerabilities 

 Recognising and working effectively with families where neglect is an issue 

 Pre-birth assessment 

 Involving fathers 

 The role of pathway (leaving care) workers 

 Impact of audits 

 Professional challenge 

 Impact of COVID 19 

        Process 

4. Following rapid review processes1 and consultation with the Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel, the STSCP identified that lessons could be learnt regarding the way that agencies work 

together to safeguard children where neglect is a concern2.   

5. The CSPR was conducted in accordance with the requirements set out in:  

                                                           
1 A rapid review is undertaken in order to ascertain whether a Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review is appropriate, or whether 
the case may raise issues which are complex or of national importance and if a national review may be appropriate. The decision is 
then made along with the national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel. 
2 It was agreed that this learning review would be undertaken rather than individual child safeguarding practice reviews after 
consultation with the National Child Safeguarding Practice Panel in December 2020. 

Page 18



 
Final 
 

3 
 

 The Children Act 20043 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 20174) 

 Working Together 20185 

 Tees Multi-Agency Children’s Safeguarding Policy and Procedures 
 

6. In order to identify learning and consider the need for improvement action, the review considered two 

cases. One where a young baby died, and one where a two year old was seriously injured. Both of the 

families were well known to statutory agencies and on either a child in need or child protection plan at 

the time of the incidents.   

   Lucy6 was two years old when she was injured in an accident that was contributed to by parental 

neglect. Her mother was receiving support as a care leaver and Lucy was on a child in need (CIN) 

plan at the time of the incident.  

   Mia was less than a month old when she died. The cause of death is not yet known7. Mia was on a 

child protection plan (CPP) due to neglect concerns for her older siblings. Her father misuses drugs 

and is on a drug treatment programme.   

7. Consideration of these cases enabled the review to focus on the systems that were in place and what 

works well in a strengths-based approach, alongside an exploration of where there may be learning for 

the system and for multi-agency practice.  

8. In respect of the cases considered, personal family details will only be disclosed in this report where it is 

essential to the learning established during the review.   

9. An independent lead reviewer8 was commissioned to work with a panel of local safeguarding 

professionals from the key agencies. The lead reviewer facilitated practitioner events,9 made contact 

with the families and produced this report. The lead reviewer and the panel collaborated on identifying 

the learning and agreeing recommendations from this CSPR.  

10. All of the parents received two letters asking them to speak to the lead reviewer about their experience 

of professional involvement with their families. Only Lucy’s father agreed to speak to the lead reviewer 

and his views are included in the report. Prior to publication of the learning from the review, all of the 

parents will be updated.  

11. Agency involvement at the time was considered by each individual agency through the completion of 

case specific chronologies, which included analysis and the identification of any single-agency learning. 

From these chronologies and the rapid review information, themes were identified for discussion with 

the professionals involved in the cases at the practitioner events. The events also considered wider 

practice with children and families where neglect is a concern in South Tees.  

12. An OFSTED inspection in December 2019 found that Middlesbrough Children Services was inadequate 

and a key focus of the improvement plan is about recognising risk and the need to improve the 

                                                           
3 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents  
4 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted  
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2  
6 Both children have been given alternative names to ensure confidentiality and aid the learning from the review.   
7 Toxicology tests were negative 
8 Nicki Pettitt is an experienced lead reviewer and has been undertaking serious case reviews and CSPRs since 2009. She is entirely 
independent of all partner agencies in South Tees.  
9 This was by virtual meeting technology due to the impact of Covid-19 

Page 19



 
Final 
 

4 
 

management of cases of long-standing neglect. This review was therefore also seen as a way of 

checking on the multi-agency response to the neglect evident in the two cases being considered.  

     Analysis and identification of learning 

13. Through the detailed consideration of both cases, the review has established the following learning:   

Learning point 1:   

When assessing if children require additional support or if they are at risk, it is important to always 

consider the parent’s history and on-going vulnerabilities and the impact on the children.  

14. Lucy’s mother had been in care from the age of 7 due to her own experience of neglectful parenting. 

She had a large number of care placements, police and youth offending service involvement and 

periods of being missing from her placements. She was 18 years old and open to Pathways (the leaving 

care service) at the time of her pregnancy. Her midwife made a referral to children’s social care stating 

that she was a vulnerable care leaver and had a history of violence when younger.  The Youth 

Offending Service (YOS) confirmed to the review that this was related to behaviour in her residential 

placement and that they had had no involvement for around 4 years.  Lucy’s mother had a history of 

depression and self-harming which was not felt to be an issue by the time of Lucy’s birth when she was 

18 years old. Routine questions about mental health were asked and the mother stated she was well. 

By this time she had reconciled with her mother, Lucy’s maternal grandmother (MGM) and was living 

back in the family home.  

15. There was limited contact with the child’s father either during the later part of the pregnancy or post 

birth. He told the review that he was not invited to any meetings and had very limited contact from 

professionals in respect of his daughter. He was not thought to have been known to children’s social 

care during his childhood, but at the practitioners event undertaken for this review the GP confirmed that 

father’s notes held information on a child protection plan for neglect in his early childhood, This was not 

known to those currently working the case, as it appears that GP checks had not been undertaken. This 

information should also have been available to CSC but changes of IT system seem to have led to it not 

being readily available. Father was also known to the YOS, but these checks were not undertaken. The 

Pathways worker knew Lucy’s mother well and had met her father. She had concerns about their 

relationship, lifestyle and their capacity to safely care for a baby. Lucy’s father told the review that they 

smoked cannabis regularly but denied that had ever been any domestic abuse in the relationship.  

16.  In contrast, Mia’s family were not well known to professionals in Middlesbrough. They did not move in 

to the local authority area until early in 2020. It soon became apparent that there were indicators of 

neglect of the children in this large family10. A child protection plan was made in March 2020. The 

concerns were specifically about the impact on the children of Mia’s father’s11 significant and long-term 

substance misuse12 and the ability of their mother to protect them from the effects of this. Mia’s father 

was on a treatment plan but continued to misuse drugs, including crack cocaine and heroin. The 

relationship between Mia’s parents was relatively new and he was not the father of the older children. In 

                                                           
10 In order to protect the identity of the family, the number of siblings will not be specified in this report. However Mia had a much 
higher than average number of older brothers and sisters.  
11  The older children have a different father.  
12 Mia’s father also has older children who live in another area and there is no contact, they are not considered further by this review.  

Page 20



 
Final 
 

5 
 

the previous local authority area, which was the same health authority area, they had received a 

universal health visiting service. During the review professionals involved with them reflected that 

mother’s wider family tended to live in households with poor levels of hygiene, but that none would meet 

the threshold for professional involvement due to neglect.  

17. It appears that the concerns in relation to the care of the children did not start until after their mother 

began her relationship with the father of baby Mia, following her split from the father of the older 

children.  Mother reported struggling with depression following the break-up of this long-term 

relationship and this continued to be an issue at the time of their move to Middlesbrough. She was also 

noted to be stressed and frustrated by her new partners drug use, although it was felt that she did not 

fully understand or acknowledge the impact on the children, including the cost of his habit which was 

estimated to be at least £120 per week13.  

18. Mia’s father is reported to have had a difficult childhood and to have started misusing drugs at age 12. 

Little was known at the time about his more general childhood experiences, but he had physical health 

issues as well as the ongoing substance misuse concerns and required a lot of help and support from 

his partner, and to an extent her older children. There were occasions known to professionals where 

one of the children would be sent out with mother’s partner to ensure he did not use drugs. While the 

focus of the professional’s parenting concerns was this drug use, it was expected that the children’s 

mother would be providing the majority of parenting. This was not going to be easy with a large number 

of children, her depression, a lack of local family support, emerging difficulties in the relationship with 

Mia’s father and reportedly poor quality private-rented housing, even before the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The need for a child protection plan was established and processes were followed.   

19. Pathways to Harm, Pathways to Protection; a Triennial Review of SCRs 2011–14 was published in 

201614 (to be referred to as the Triennial Review) and states that the SCRs considered show that there 

are factors in a parents’ background which potentially may present a risk to a child. These include:  

 Domestic abuse  

 Parental mental health problems  

 Drug and alcohol misuse  

 Adverse childhood experiences  

 A history of criminality, particularly violent crime  

 Patterns of multiple, consecutive partners  

 Acrimonious separation 

 The Triennial Review points out that these factors ‘appear to interact with each other, creating 

cumulative levels of risk the more factors are present’.   Other factors are included as significant; young 

motherhood; estrangement from the new mother’s own parents; temporary housing or supported 

accommodation; lack of support from the baby’s father and/or a new or unstable relationship with the 

father.’ The average age of first-time mothers whose children were the subject of a SCR was age 19. 

Lucy’s mother was 18 when she was born. This is compared to the national average of age 28 for first 

                                                           
13 Mother told professionals that she did not give money to her partner, however they had a joint benefits claim which would have 
made this difficult. Was this questioned enough, particularly in light of the lack of food etc in the home?  
14 P. Sidebotham and M. Brandon et al. (2016)  

Page 21



 
Final 
 

6 
 

time mothers. There were also housing issues, family conflict and difficulties with her previous partner. 

At one stage Lucy had three different homes in two weeks.  

20. For Mia and her siblings a number of these issues also co-existed. For example, housing was an 

ongoing issue and the relationship between Mia’s parents was very new when mother became 

pregnant.  Both cases show that it is essential that anyone undertaking an assessment or working to 

support a family understands the importance of considering their current situation, but also that 

consideration is given to the potential impact of the parent’s childhood experience, relationship/s and 

their specific vulnerabilities on their parenting and risks to their child.  

21. The mental health of a parent should be considered in the context of the impact on the care provided to 

the child.  In the cases considered there had been insufficient consideration or overly optimistic 

consideration of this impact by professionals working with the families. Both mother’s in these cases had 

some mental health concerns that do not appear to have been fully explored. There was no evidence 

that the impact of Lucy’s mother’s anxiety on her parenting was considered and Mia’s mother’s 

depression was seen as a reaction to her circumstances and its impact on the children was seen to be 

in terms of her not being able to practically care for her large family, particularly while pregnant. The 

impact on the children of these mental health issues required much wider understanding and 

assessment.  

Learning point 2:  

A pre-birth social work assessment should be undertaken in cases where there are predisposing risks 

and vulnerabilities that warrant involvement from children’s social care. This includes if there is 

involvement with the parent or other children in the immediate family. All professionals need to be aware 

of this procedure and should challenge a lack of assessment. If no assessment is to be undertaken 

when the parent is receiving a service from pathways, as could be appropriate, there needs to be clear 

reasons recorded about why this is the case.  
 

22. In Mia’s case there was a pre-birth assessment as her siblings were on child protection plans at the 

time. While this was undertaken the analysis could have been stronger, particularly in respect of the 

parenting capacity of both parents and the likely life experience of Mia following her birth. A pre-birth 

child protection conference was held, although it was delayed due to COVID-19. It specifically 

considered if the baby was likely to be at risk of significant harm from neglect, and a child protection 

plan was made. At the time there was little improvement noted in the home conditions, which were 

described as extremely poor. Concerns remained about the ability of mother and her partner to manage 

the behaviour of the children, despite a period of child protection planning for the older children. It was 

right that the baby was made subject to a child protection plan. The challenge was to ensure that the 

plan considered each individual child and their needs.  
 

23. In Lucy’s case no further action was taken in respect of the pre-birth referral from the midwife during 

mother’s pregnancy, despite the unborn baby procedures stating that an assessment will take place 

“where the expectant parents are currently active to CSC and/or they have children who are currently 

active to CSC” and because of the specific vulnerabilities that the midwife outlined.  Lucy’s mother was 

receiving a service from Pathways as a care leaver and therefore technically open to CSC so a pre-birth Page 22



 
Final 
 

7 
 

assessment needed to be considered, or at least there should have been a clearly recorded reason why 

the procedures were not being followed which was shared with other professionals. There is no 

evidence that the midwifery service challenged the decision.  
 

24. The Pathways worker made a new referral around a month later, raising concerns about the expectant 

mother and father’s drug misuse, lack of settled accommodation, domestic abuse in the relationship and 

the potential difficulties the expectant mother may have in caring for a baby. A single assessment was 

appropriately completed on this occasion and it was decided that the baby should be on a child in need 

plan following birth.  
 

Learning point 3:   

Clarity is required regarding the roles of all professionals involved with a family and assumptions should 

not be made. If a parent is receiving support from a Pathways worker, this does not mean they will be 

providing support to the care leavers child or specifically monitoring their wellbeing. They may have no 

contact with the child.  
 

25. Lucy’s mother received significant support from her Pathways worker during the pregnancy. Information 

shared with the review noted that there were over fifty separate contacts during these months. The main 

areas of need were in respect of accommodation difficulties, the fragile relationship between mother and 

MGM, difficulties in the relationship with the baby’s father and general anxiety about the pregnancy and 

birth. There was a good relationship and there is no doubt that Lucy’s mother benefited from this.  
 

26. The focus of a Pathways Worker is on the care leaver and their needs in respect of health, education or 

employment, housing and financial/benefit issues. While a number of care leavers are also parents, the 

Pathways Worker is not responsible for the children, even if they are on a child in need plan as Lucy 

was following her birth. The decision to close this plan appears to have been made largely due to the 

on-going involvement of the pathways worker with her mother however. There were outstanding issues, 

particularly in respect of suitable housing for the young family, the relationship with MGM and contact 

with Lucy’s father. The recording of the decision states that the case was closed as there were no 

safeguarding concerns identified. This was despite limited evidence of work being undertaken to support 

the mother with the concerns identified during the assessment. It is important that support to care 

leavers who are parents and their children includes a consideration of the support they require, rather 

than a deficit model where support is only provided if there are safeguarding concerns.  

 
 

27. It was noted that the Pathways worker would continue their involvement with Lucy’s mother, which was 

seen as a safeguard to the baby. The only professional involved specifically for the child was the health 

visitor and there is no evidence that consideration was given to the need for on-going parenting support 

to pre-empt future referrals, and to what early help services could provide to a vulnerable mother with a 

new baby. This was in part due to assumptions that the pathways worker was responsible for the baby, 

and also due to the mother previously stating that she did not wish to engage with early help support.  

28. Professionals need to be curious about what the involvement of another professional actually involves. 

For example it is common for professionals to assume that if a care leaver is a parent, that the pathways 

worker’s role will provide a safeguard to the baby. While this is true to an extent, there may actually be Page 23



 
Final 
 

8 
 

very little involvement between the care leaver and their own worker, there may not be home visits and 

they may not actually ever see the baby. In this case, and generally, questions should be asked about 

the extent of a professional’s involvement, including the level of contact, where they are seeing people, 

whether they undertake home visits, and what happens if their service is declined. When care leavers 

become parents there needs to be a recognition, clarity and full understanding of the different roles that 

professionals have in relation to the family / unborn.   

Learning point 4:  

It is important that professionals understand the need to meaningfully consider and involve fathers in 

assessments and plans in respect of their children.  

29. In 2020 the South Tees partnership completed a CSPR called Stork that considered systems and 

practice with families with young babies in the area. It concluded that a child’s father needs to be seen 

as an equal parent in order to ensure that the needs and risks to a child are met and known.  It stated 

that professionals need to give separate consideration to how they can meaningfully engage with 

fathers, including those who do not live with the child. It also recognised that this can pose a challenge 

to professionals. In respect of both Lucy and Mia challenges were evident.  

30. In Lucy’s case there were concerns about the child’s father but these were not assessed at the time. 

The mother’s assertions about him were accepted and there was no evidence of any meaningful 

attempts to involve him in the child in need plan made prior to Lucy’s birth or later when a new plan was 

made. It appears he continued to have contact with Lucy at the time, and although there is evidence of 

some on-going difficulties regarding comments on social media it was largely said to be positive by 

Lucy’s mother.  At one stage, when Lucy’s mother had housing issues, Lucy went to stay with her father 

and his parents. There was still no attempt to undertake a proper assessment of him, to involve him in 

the child in need plans, or to consider what help and support his side of the family could provide to Lucy. 

It is now known that prior to Lucy’s accident her mother had started a new relationship and was 

expecting a baby. Nothing was known about her new boyfriend and the impact his presence in the 

family may have on Lucy and on the mother’s care of her daughter.  

31. The father of Mia’s siblings lived in another area and there was a view that he wanted no involvement 

with his children following his move to Middlesbrough. Some attempts were made to contact him but 

largely the children’s mother’s assertion that he would not cooperate was accepted.  As well as posing a 

potential risk to children, fathers can also be a protective factor. For example fathers who do not live as 

part of the immediate family may be capable of caring for and protecting a child if this is required, as he 

may have been for the older siblings of Mia who were on a child protection plan due to concerns about 

neglect and the impact of their mother’s partner drug misuse. Case reviews show that fathers are often 

overlooked by professionals15, often along with the wider paternal family.  This was potentially the case 

for both Lucy and Mia.  

32. In Lucy’s case her father is now her full-time carer. This review was provided with very little information 

about Mia’s sibling’s father, who appears to still be absent from their lives and the work being 

                                                           
15 Hidden men: learning from case reviews. Summary of risk factors and learning for improved practice. NSPCC April 2015 

Page 24



 
Final 
 

9 
 

undertaken with them, which is ongoing. Sandstrom et al16 made specific recommendations about 

identifying fathers and male carers, including: ‘being explicit with mothers about the importance of 

speaking to the father and including him in the process, while also ensuring that she would not be put at 

risk; speaking separately to the father rather than gathering information solely through the mother; and 

arranging separate home visits if necessary to explain the relevance of his involvement with the child, 

communicating a willingness to include him in decisions.’  Lucy’s father told the review he knew little 

about professional involvement with his daughter and that he was not invited to be involved in any 

planning.  

33. As noted in the Stork review, learning has been identified nationally about the requirement for 

meaningful involvement with fathers by professionals working with children, and the national Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel is due to publish a national CSPR that will consider this issue. Two 

recommendations were made in the Stork review. Firstly that the STSCP take the learning from the 

national CSPR when it is published and explore further what can be done to improve the involvement of 

fathers in work undertaken with families where there is a new baby. Secondly that a piece of work is 

undertaken to provide a better understanding from professionals in partner agencies of the role of 

fathers, the need to engage with fathers and to consider projects in other parts of the country that are 

making a difference.  These recommendations will also be beneficial in light of the learning from Lucy 

and Mia’s cases. 

Learning point 5:  

Professionals need to use specific neglect tools and ensure that they understand the root causes of 

neglect and the impact on a child over time   

34. Although in many ways Lucy suffered from lower level neglect throughout her life prior to and 

immediately following the serious incident when she was two years old, the risk from neglect was not 

identified at the time. A second single assessment was completed when she was around a year old 

following allegations shared by a family member about the home conditions at MGM’s home, where 

Lucy and her mother were living. Concerns were also shared about Maternal Grandmother’s alleged 

long term and ongoing misuse of amphetamines. No further action was taken by CSC following the 

assessment and again it was recorded that due to the Pathway’s worker and health visitor involvement 

there was no need for social work involvement with Lucy. This was not challenged by the pathways 

worker or the health visitor and there is no evidence that cumulative risk or the need for early help was 

considered.  MGM had always been seen as a positive safeguard for the child and an assessment was 

required to ensure that this was actually the case in light of the new information shared.   There was no 

consideration of using any neglect tools, such as the graded care pathway (GCP) in the case. The GCP 

is an assessment tool which helps practitioners measure the quality of care a child is receiving. The 

NSPCC state that it is effective in helping identify whether a child is at risk of neglect. In Middlesbrough 

there is currently improved access to training for social workers in the GCP, with course availability 

throughout the second half of 2021. There is also a plan to ensure wider professional training across 

agencies if issues with licencing are successfully addressed. Until then, the increased use of 

chronologies, genograms and ecograms to guide practice would be a positive step.  

                                                           
16 Approaches to father engagement in home visiting programs. 2015 

Page 25



 
Final 
 

10 
 

 

35. A strategy meeting was held in January 2020, when Lucy was around 18 months old. This was following 

an incident where MGM was allegedly physically assaulted by Lucy’s mother and aunt, both of whom 

had been drinking and possibly misusing drugs. The assessment that followed identified that there had 

been significant instability for Lucy in where she lived and who cared for her, and that she presented as 

unkempt. This incident was treated in isolation and not considered within the context of what else was 

known, and there was optimism regarding mother’s role in the incident. It was the view of the social 

work team who undertook the assessment that mother could not have been too drunk at the time as the 

police let her continue to care for Lucy. The review has found this was not actually the case. The police 

shared that while mother and child remained together following the incident, it was at a friend’s home 

who was seen as protective. It was the officer’s view that the mother was in fact too drunk to care for the 

child. This is an example of assumptions being made and issues downplayed without the full facts being 

sought and established. There is also the potential for gender having an impact, and it is interesting to 

consider what the outcome would have been if the perpetrator of the abuse and carer for the child had 

been male. Mother’s self report about what happened and her denial of being drunk or under the 

influence of drugs was accepted without confirming with the police officers who were in attendance at 

the time, despite mother’s history of substance misuse and aggression. 

 

36. Mia was the subject of a child protection plan due to neglect from birth. The risk to her in light of the 

family’s concerning situation and the experience of her older siblings meant there was a plan in place 

and recognition of neglect being a significant concern following the baby’s birth. This was positive. While 

there was a degree of understanding of the root cause of the children’s neglect, which was thought to be 

because of Mia’s fathers drug use and her mother being unable to cope due her low mood and the 

overwhelming task of caring for her large family without family support. The use of evidenced based 

tools and research in this case would have allowed more understanding of the case and provided more 

clarity amidst the chaos. The children’s social worker reported the difficulty in gaining and then 

considering the lived experiences of the large number of children in the family, particularly during the 

COVID-19 pandemic. She worked very hard to get to know each child and to communicate with all of 

the other professionals involved.  
 

37. At the review event those involved felt that despite the conditions at home, the children were loved and 

valued by their mother, and that their earlier years had not been neglectful. This made them optimistic 

that the impact on the children would not be damaging, however there was no assessment of the impact 

on the children and limits to the understanding sought about their lived experience. The focus of the 

work now is in respect of their bereavement for their baby sister, but there remains a need to ensure 

that there is also a focus on the neglect they have suffered in the past and may suffer again in the 

future.  
 

38. There is currently work going on in South Tees with developing a neglect strategy for adolescent 

children. This will be beneficial to the older siblings of Mia. It is planned that a strategy for younger 

children will be developed as the next stage. This will need to include improved awareness and use of 

the strategy across all partner agencies, in order to improve practice generally.  
 

Learning point 6:  Page 26



 
Final 
 

11 
 

There is a need for transparent and sensitive management of auditing activity in local authorities with 

improvement plans. There also needs to be a system in place to consider the outcome of actions from 

audits to ensure they have achieved what was required.  
 

39. The pattern of Lucy’s mother missing appointments, not engaging with professionals and dismissing 

their concerns continued. This, and the risk associated with mother’s history, was identified during an 

audit undertaken in May 2020 that suggested that the case needed to have a child protection rather 

than a child in need focus. A strategy meeting was held following the audit but maintained that Lucy 

continued to require a child in need plan. It was conceded however that the CinN plan must be ‘really 

strong’. Those present at the strategy meeting agreed with the decision and no dissent was recorded. 

Signs of Safety was used during the meeting and the scaling of 5/6 was given, which is an average 

score - between 0 which means recurrence of similar or worse danger/concerns is certain and 10 which 

means that sufficient safety has been demonstrated. There is a reliance on scaling to determine if a 

child is at the right place in the system, but this review has found that scaling can be over optimistic if 

undertaken in a multi-agency collective setting, particularly if the parents are present. It can also be hard 

to understand without a clear record and strong narrative around the number agreed. Professional 

challenge should also be invited and expected.  It is noted that when used in social work supervision the 

scaling was less optimistic and more reflective of what the reality was for Lucy.  

40. The social work team that were working with Lucy and her mother were responsible for reviewing the 

case following the audit. They had a clear view that it was a child in need and not a child protection 

case, and did not believe there was any evidence that the threshold for child protection had been 

reached. They also had a view that the thresholds of the auditors were lower than was expected 

practice in the area, and that they did not understand the levels of concern in the community and the 

need for keeping thresholds at the level they were. This was despite the external audit team being 

asked to consider thresholds locally and a view from OFSTED that this was required. 

41. Due to their OFSTED rating of ‘inadequate’ Middlesbrough Council’s CSC had the scrutiny and support 

of a number of outside professionals in order to ensure improvements were made. This was clearly 

incredibly hard for staff, and this was evident in both the response to the audit in this case and was still 

evident during the review meeting.  To ask the same professionals who had made decisions to review 

them without any further scrutiny from someone not involved is unlikely to lead to a change in the plan. 

Particularly when they are resentful of the challenge to their practice. Other case reviews show that it is 

difficult for a professional to change their mind when they have decided on a course of action, without 

clear changes in the situation or a significant incident that forces them to reassess their position. 

Decisions are made with the information available at the time, but they may need to change as more 

information emerges, and when risks and needs change. Professionals are required to constantly 

review their own views and to challenge the decisions of others as required.  The audit led to a 

defensive rather than open minded review of the case.  
 

42. It is not easy for those involved to review their own work in this way and to change what they had 

previously thought. It is also difficult for staff when outside auditors come in and those spoken to felt that 

they were being criticised by people who had no connection to the area. The audit was put in place as Page 27



 
Final 
 

12 
 

an immediate response to the Ofsted inspection, as a 12 week plan before the strategic plan was ready 

to be rolled out. The initial audit happened while services were adjusting to restrictions and working from 

home due to COVID 19 and communication platforms were challenging. There is now a fair more 

transparent and integrated model of audit which includes reflective discussions with the professionals 

involved. There is also clearer tracking of what happens next after there has been a challenge, re-

auditing of plans that were audited as inadequate, and moderation if there is disagreement about an 

audit rating.  
 

43. There is no evidence that any feedback was given, or requested, by either the audit team or senior 

managers following the strategy meeting that was held in Lucy’s case. There was also no challenge 

from any other agency involved in the case. So this opportunity to reconsider where the case was held 

within the system did not have an impact, other than the acknowledgement that the CIN plan needing to 

be ‘strong’. There is no explanation regarding what this would involve and there was limited direct 

involvement with Lucy and her mother in the months that followed, although there is evidence of 

professionals trying to contact them. Those involved explained that Lucy’s mother could be a challenge 

to pin down and that it was often hard to speak to or see her. There is always the risk, when a parent is 

a young care leaver themselves, that professional expectations of them adjust and that this leads to 

excuses or concessions for missed appointments, negative attitudes towards professionals and 

difficulties in accepting support. Care leavers have a legacy of being in care which impacts on their 

relationships with professionals and it can be difficult for those involved to build the relationships and 

trust required to provide meaningful support and challenge, yet remain focused on the care leaver’s 

child. Honesty is required when working with care leavers who become parents, about the likelihood that 

their own history will impact on their parenting, and that they are likely to require on-going involvement 

with support services. Sadly, care leaver’s children are over-represented in child protection cases and in 

care proceedings.  Professionals must be aware of the need for an understanding of trauma informed 

care, the impact of adverse childhood experiences, and the need to work differently to ensure that there 

is the right balance of support for the parent and protection of the child.  

44. Following the strategy meeting, child in need meetings were held and those involved continued to be 

positive about the mother’s care of Lucy. There is little evidence however of much direct contact with 

either Lucy or her mother at this time to justify the positive picture. This was due to missed 

appointments but also the challenges of the pandemic. The allocated health visitor and the pathways 

worker, both of whom who had been seen as important parts of the child in need plan, had no direct 

contact whatsoever at this time. Staff at the supported accommodation were not undertaking any direct 

work. There was a plan to involve a family resource worker to provide hands on support with routines 

and boundaries, but they had no capacity and did not get involved until after Lucy’s accident. Without 

the involvement of these key professionals, the optimistic view of how Lucy was being cared for during 

the period of child in need planning is hard to understand. The social worker allocated to Lucy only saw 

her and her mother once in the two months that followed the audit and strategy meeting, and this was 

outside the home for a short period of time. She has acknowledged that she was unable to do any 

planned work due to issues with confidentiality and lack of contact time.    

Page 28



 
Final 
 

13 
 

45. Within two months of the strategy meeting an ambulance was called because Lucy had had fallen 20ft 

from a bedroom window at her aunt’s house.  While a criminal investigation was not pursued, there is a 

view that a degree of neglect was apparent. It was following the child’s discharge from hospital to her 

mother’s care, which was agreed at a complex strategy meeting by chaired by a senior CSC manager, 

that serious concerns about Mother’s care of Lucy, who required additional care due to her injuries, 

once more became apparent. Care proceedings were swiftly commenced and the Local Authority where 

granted an Interim Care Order and a Recovery Order.   

Learning point 7:  

There is a need for professionals to robustly challenge themselves, each other and parents/carers when 

it comes to managing cases of neglect.  

46. The study ‘Working with Neglected Children and their Families: Linking Interventions with Long-term 

Outcomes’ (Farmer and Lutman 2012) considers the processes that are likely to adversely affect the 

longer-term management of families where there are neglect issues.  They are: 

• Becoming de-sensitised to children’s difficulties through habituation  

• Normalising and minimising abuse and neglect 

• Downgrading the importance of referrals about abuse or neglect from neighbours or relatives 

• Over-identification with parents 

• Developing a fixed view of cases which discounts contrary information 

• Viewing each incident of neglect or abuse in isolation and not recognising their cumulative impact 

47. In both of the cases considered there were indicators of the above in work being undertaken. An 

example was the school attended by Mia’s eldest siblings, where none of the schools perceived the 

children to be at risk of neglect. The school reflected that the family were disorganised and at times 

chaotic, but that they saw no evidence of harm or significant neglect. They told the review that the 

children’s mother needed help and support, but that this was not out of the ordinary in the community 

where they live. The oversight of the life experience of Mia’s siblings provided to this review shows that 

neglect certainly featured and has had a negative impact on their well-being.  

48. Curiosity and a willingness to challenge are fundamental professional traits required when working 

together with other professionals and with families to keep children safe. The need for ‘respectful 

uncertainty’ is widely known, but not always easy to achieve. Getting the balance right between support 

and challenge when working with parents can be difficult, it is a complex balance which requires skilled 

practitioners, reflective practice, effective supervision and professional challenge within and between 

agencies. The pandemic led to changes to practice that did not help professionals to engage with 

families or with each other. For example child in need meetings were attempted on Lucy’s case in April, 

May and June 2020, but they had to be undertaken by telephone. This created a lot of issues, with the 

health visitor reporting not being able to join, and with various connection and call quality issues. 

Middlesbrough Council bought a number of WEBEX licences to use for these meetings, but they were 

prioritised for child protection meetings and social workers coordinating child in need meetings did not 

have easy access to them. The picture was improving at the time of the completion of the review.  

Page 29



 
Final 
 

14 
 

49. When considering the impact on a child of a number of smaller issues, it is important to compile and 

consider a chronology. This can help avoid the risk of considering issues in isolation and not 

understanding the cumulative impact. A chronology, particularly one that includes multi-agency 

information, shows the full picture and a child’s care over time can be considered. It enables persistent 

and cumulative harm to be identified.  No chronology was evident for Lucy until after her accident and 

when the local authority decided that they needed to undertake care proceedings.  This means that 

there was no real understanding of how poor her mother’s engagement with professionals had been 

over time and the number of appointments that had been missed, for example. During the review there 

remained optimism about how engaged Lucy’s mother had been, despite evidence available to the 

review that this was not actually the case. Those involved at the time were not aware of the child’s lived 

experience over the months of the first lockdown as they had minimal contact with her and her mother. 

The contacts that did happen were for a maximum of 15 minutes and were undertaken outside of the 

family home. Much of Lucy’s mother’s support was supposed to have been provided by staff at the 

supported accommodation where she had a tenancy.  However due to COVID there was no hands-on 

support or direct contact. It is now known that Lucy and her mother were spending very little time at the 

accommodation, instead staying with her sister. The police have a number of examples of her being 

warned for breaking COVID restrictions.  

50. There was also optimism about the willingness of Mia’s mother to work with professionals, despite 

evidence that she was not always engaged. She swore at the health visitor in a meeting, and was often 

hostile to professionals. There was only limited engagement with the resource worker who was involved 

to offer parenting support. Mia’s older siblings were made the subject of child protection plans during 

mother’s pregnancy with Mia. A pre-birth assessment was completed and a pre-birth conference 

arranged. By the time of Mia’s birth her mother had asked her father to move out due to drug testing 

showing on-going significant substance misuse, which was positive and enabled professionals to feel 

she was listening to advice and willing to make changes for the benefit of her children. Those involved 

were optimistic that Mother would separate from him permanently. Good work was undertaken with the 

mother by CGL17 to educate her about substance misuse, to enable her to identifying patterns and 

recognise her partner’s deceit, in the hope she would be less naive about this.  His presence at the 

family home following the birth was challenged directly with him and with the mother by those involved 

and information was shared between the professionals involved. This was good practice.  

51. Mia’s mother was seen by health professionals as an experienced parent. She breast fed her babies, 

which was seen as positive and child centred. There was no history of concerns from the previous area 

where they had lived. When it emerged that appointments for the older children were being missed, 

including for the six-week check and immunisations for her baby (Mia’s older sibling) this was not 

immediately identified as of concern.  There had also been a change of health visitor within 

Middlesbrough when the family moved to another part of town not long after arriving in the area. It was 

not until a strategy meeting was held in February 2020 that health professionals were aware of the 

neglect concerns about the children. CSC had received four referrals in around three weeks. Firstly from 

the police regarding one of the older siblings being out in the community unsupervised late at night. 

                                                           
17 CGL provide treatment and support to those who misuse substances in the area.  

Page 30



 
Final 
 

15 
 

Secondly from CGL in regard to mother being pregnant and the father having on-going substance 

misuse issues. Thirdly from the school of some of the older children stating that they were unkempt, 

tired and often absent. Lastly from the ambulance service sharing their concerns about the eldest sibling 

who came to their notice due to issues of anxiety and anger control, their concerns about the home 

conditions and the child having responsibility for his younger siblings.   It was agreed that the children 

were at risk of significant harm and an ICPC was held, with the older siblings all being made subject to 

child protection plans for neglect - physical, medical, nutritional, emotional, educational, and lack of 

supervision and guidance at home. The plan included monitoring of the home and children’s life 

experience, but was closely followed by the first COVID 19 pandemic lockdown, which had a negative 

impact on the plan and potentially the children, as their mother exercised her right to keep them at home 

and the professionals involved had to abide by their agencies rules in respect of home visits due to the 

pandemic. The social worker described having to view the home and see the children through a 

downstairs window.  

52. There were some concerns about the quality of the child protection plan for Mia and her siblings. The 

IRO monitoring tool rated the case at a Red, highlighting the urgency of gaining the children’s views and 

an understanding of their lived experience, as this had not been apparent. The review was told that 

more recently (as practice has changed and improved within Covic-19 regulations) there has been a lot 

of work undertaken with the children and that the social worker has developed a good relationship with 

them. 

53. A review child protection conference was held very soon after Mia’s initial conference and there was 

concern voiced that despite nine months on a plan there had been no real improvements for the 

children, particularly in regard to their supervision, school attendance, physical appearance and home 

conditions. Their mother had received some parenting work with a resource worker, but was reported 

not to engage with what was asked of her and often said that she was confused about what she had 

been asked to do, or that she did not have time to do it. The chair stated that a legal gateway meeting 

should be considered if there was no improvement by the next core group. There was no clarity 

regarding what these improvements were and how positive change would be measured however, and 

with the absence of an outcome focused plan18 and no evidence that any neglect tools were used, this 

was going to be difficult. It was shortly after this meeting that Mia died.   

54. There were no visits inside Lucy’s home following the outbreak of pandemic and the initial lockdown in 

the UK until after her accident in July 2020. This appears to be due to it being a temporary supported 

housing unit with other residents. The 0-19 service delivery (including health visiting) were instructed to 

have no face to face client contacts until they received appropriate PPE, which took around three 

weeks. A directive was then made that the only face to face visit should be to new birth contacts, those 

on a child protection plan or if there was an absolute clinical need, where visits had to be authorised by 

service manager. This means that Lucy and her mother did not meet the criteria for a face to face visit 

from the health visitor until the strategy meeting was held on 19th May and it was agreed that the health 

                                                           
18 In a SMART and outcome focused plan the needs of the children should be specific and linked to their growth and developmental 
milestones and aimed at their preferred future. Actions need to be specific, clear and linked to meeting needs and time specific, 
linked to a responsible person. Timescales need to be determined to help focus the interventions and progress points. Outcomes 
need to be stated to outline what life would be like if the interventions were successful and the child’s needs were met consistently 
over a sustained period of time.  

Page 31



 
Final 
 

16 
 

visitor should visit. However two weeks later the health visitor became unwell and took extended sick 

leave. 

55. Professionals working with Lucy and her mother found that the mother’s engagement deteriorated 

further during the pandemic. It was easier to avoid professionals or to superficially engage on the 

telephone or when meeting briefly outside the home. There were attempts from professionals to see 

Lucy and her mother, but these were not always successful. Despite this, the child in need meetings 

held on the telephone stated that there had been progress in the child in need planning for Lucy and a 

generally positive view. There is no evidence that this was actually the case however. Lucy’s mother 

came across as managing well and this was not adequately questioned by those involved.  

56. Following Lucy’s accident there was a complex strategy meeting held which was chaired by a senior 

manager. It can now be seen that not all of the relevant background information was shared at the 

meeting, and the same positive feeling about her mother’s care of Lucy was accepted at the meeting. 

The police and the allocated social worker were unable to attend, which exacerbated this. An agreement 

was made that Lucy could return to her mother’s care when she was discharged from hospital. No other 

agency challenged this decision and Lucy returned home. There was good monitoring and information 

sharing in the days that followed, including home visits from the social worker and health visitor. It 

quickly emerged that her mother was not meeting her needs at this time and that Lucy was at risk of 

neglect. Care proceedings were started without delay.  

57. In the first weeks of the pandemic the core group meeting following Mia’s siblings being made subject to 

a CP plan was cancelled, and there is no evidence it was rearranged. There appears to have been a 

number of attempts by the social worker, health visitor and school nurse to see the children, despite the 

limitations at the time19. The school nurse did all she could to engage in a meaningful way with one of 

the older siblings when there were particular concerns about how he was managing. There is also 

evidence of communication between the professionals regarding who was able to have contact. 

Families had the right to refuse to send their children to school. There was no government guidance 

about vulnerable children being required to attend, and limited understanding of who needed to shield. 

In the case of Mia’s siblings, there was the option of all of the school age children to attend school due 

to their vulnerabilities. One of the older children refused to do so, saying that it would make her stand 

out as a child with a social worker. Their mother chose not to send the younger children, and said the 

whole family were ‘shielding’. The professionals involved thought this was really due to her not having to 

be organised to get the children to school, bearing in mind her pregnancy and the size of her family.  For 

a family where school attendance had been a long-term issue, the pandemic gave a valid reason for the 

children to miss school. Most schools took some time to set up virtual learning, and it is not known what 

home schooling Mia’s siblings had in these months. Those involved at the time reflected that it was 

unrealistic to think that a family with so many children, in small and inadequate housing that was often 

described as ‘unsafe’, with additional social problems could actively learn and develop via home 

schooling. It is known that the school undertook home visits to them and provided lunch, which was 

good practice.  

                                                           
19 PPE was not available to community health staff until 07/04/20 

Page 32



 
Final 
 

17 
 

58. The information shared with the review stated that, due to the family shielding, the social worker initially 

was only able to see the children through the window. This means that the issues that had been 

identified at the ICPC, which included the poor home conditions, the children dirty and dishevelled and 

the children’s health needs not consistently being met, could continue without any meaningful oversight 

from professionals. Shortly afterwards home visits did start again, but just 15 minutes in the home was 

recommended following a risk assessment. Other concerns also emerged at the time, including the 

children being out and unsupervised and one of them being hit by a car when out alone on their bike. 

The impact on the children of their home life was likely to be additionally concerning due to Covid 19. 

The schools had made sure that the children had appropriate uniform and food when they attended 

school prior to March 2020, and although there was contact and school dinners provided, this would not 

have compensated for a day in school when the children were ‘shielding’. Despite the enforced 

limitations, the social worker and health visitor maintained contact with the family and drew up a safety 

plan to ensure this was as effective as was possible within the limitations. This reflected a lot of positive 

work in the town generally from all professionals to ensure that children were seen despite the 

pandemic. The recording of the work undertaken at the time would have been improved by a clear 

record of the impact on each child and evidence of an understanding of their lived experience during the 

lockdown.   

59. During the reflective discussion as part of the CSPR process, Mia’s health visitor reflected on the 

challenges. She stated that there were increasingly high workload demands with CP and CIN families, 

recruitment issues across the health visiting service and a recent surge in safeguarding cases in 

Middlesbrough. This was in addition to the demands of COVID.  She did not seek safeguarding 

supervision on this case due to the general pressures and lack of time both to complete supervision 

forms for all the children and to attend the actual supervision meeting. This requires further exploration 

by the HDFT to see if it a wider issue and they have agreed to do this. Since the incident HDFT has 

rolled out 1:1 supervision to all 0-19 practitioners in Middlesbrough over a 3 month period, which is more 

actively being sought. Group supervision has also been reintroduced.  

60. There was also a more general impact from Covid-19 due to professionals catching the virus, self-

isolating, or shielding which led to some reduced capacity. This accompanied increased demand due to 

a local ‘safeguarding surge’. In their second annual report published in May 2021, the national panel 

described the previous year as ‘an indescribably hard time for children and families’ and ‘a period of 

unprecedented test and challenge for all those entrusted with safeguarding and protecting children from 

harm’. There is no doubt that while the incidents that have led to this review were not due to Covid-19, it 

had an impact on some of the practice undertaken at the time and led to stretched safeguarding 

systems.  

Conclusion and recommendations   

61. The latest OFSTED report that considered Middlesbrough Children’s Services in 2020 found that 

assessments were ‘too often poor, leading to over-optimistic decision-making’ and that many ‘fail to 

understand children’s experiences, lack clear analysis of cumulative harm, and rely on parental self-

reporting to consider parents’ capacity to make and sustain change.”  Inspectors found child protection 

plans often took ‘too positive a view of parents’ ability to sustain change’, and that this leaves some Page 33



 
Final 
 

18 
 

children in seriously neglectful and harmful situations.’ This review has found that this was the case for 

Lucy and to a lesser extent Mia and her siblings, despite there also being examples of good individual 

practice and multi-agency information sharing and communication. A lot of hard work has gone into 

improvements and a more positive response from OFSTED about progress made, including in regard to 

the thresholds issue also identified in the review. The learning from this review should be considered as 

part of this improvement journey.  

62. To assist in ensuring that improvements are made that make a difference to the children of 

Middlesbrough and the wider South Tees area, this review has also made recommendations for the 

STSCP.  

 Recommendation 1:  

 The STSCP to consider how it can ensure that all professionals in partner agencies are aware of and 

use the neglect strategy. This should involve a review of the strategy, consideration of how to relaunch it 

and how to monitor its use.   

Recommendation 2:  

The STSCP to request assurance from the Local Authority regarding improvements in the use of the 

Graded Care Profile and evidence based practice20 in neglect cases, to include consideration of its use 

by professionals across other relevant partner agencies.   

 Recommendation 3:  

 All plans, be they early help, child in need or child protection, need to provide a clear and detailed 

description of who is undertaking what work with the family, which takes their role and its limitations into 

consideration. All members of any team around a child / core group must ensure they provide 

appropriate challenge if this is not the case.   

 Recommendation 4:  

 The Corporate Parenting Board to be asked to consider how they can develop the concept of being a 

positive ‘corporate grandparent’ to the children of care leavers.  

 Recommendation 5:  

 The STSCP to consider how it can ensure that the recommendations made in the STORK review, 

regarding the need to actively involve fathers when providing services to children, are having a positive 

impact to the children of South Tees. 

 

 

 

                                                           
20 There also needs to be more use of chronologies, genograms and ecograms as part of these improvements.  

Page 34



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

 

Report of: Kathy Peacock – Voice and Influence Manager  

 

 

Submitted to: Corporate Parenting Board- 29th November 2022 

 

Subject: Care Experienced Youth Voice Update 19th October – 29th 

November 2022  

 

Contribution to the guiding principles of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 

Your Home 

Your Family and Friends 

Your Education 

Your Adult Life 

Your Health and wellbeing 

Your Voice and Influence 

 
Is the report confidential or does it contain exempt information? 
 
Yes – The report contains photographs of young people and should not be shared outside 
of the CPB  

 
What is the purpose of this report? 
 
To update the Corporate Parents on what care experienced young people have achieved, 
what they have told us and their plan for the next few months. To have the Corporate 
Parent’s discuss their involvement with the groups/activities to further support the work.   
 
Report Background 
N/A 
 
Appendices 
 
Report attached  
 
Recommendations 
N/A 
 
Why is this being recommended? 
N/A 
 
Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 
N/A 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



2 

 
 
Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 
N/A 
 
Legal  
N/A 
 
Financial 
N/A 
 
Policy Framework 
N/A 
 
Equality and Diversity 
N/A 
 
Risk 
N/A 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 
N/A 
 
 
Background papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Contact: Kathy Peacock 
 
Email:  Kathy_peacock@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 36



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

 

Report of: Virtual School Head 

 

Submitted to: Corporate Parenting Board – 29 November 2022 

 

Subject: The PROCLAIM initiative 

 

Contribution to the guiding principles of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 

Your education 

Increase academic outcomes for looked after children  

Your adult life 

Create secure foundations to support positive outcomes in adulthood 

Your health and wellbeing 

Promote good mental health and wellbeing for children in school   

Your Voice and Influence 

Ensure student voice is at the heart of change  

 

 

 
Is the report confidential or does it contain exempt information? 
 
No 

 
 

What is the purpose of this report? 
To provide Board members with a succinct overview of the PROCLAIM model.  
The model is designed to improve practice in schools. 
 
 
Report Overview  
The report sets out the PROCLAIM vision, mission and purpose and explains how the LA 
will support schools to become ‘attachment aware and trauma-informed’ (AATI). 
 
 
Report Background 
There is a wide body of research that demonstrates AATI schools provide many short and 
long-term benefits to children and adults, such as: 
 

 Lower rates of exclusions 

 Higher attendance    

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



2 

 Improved mental health and well-being for pupils and staff  

 Improved rates of post 16 education, employment and training  

 Reduced risks of criminalisation 

 Reduced risks of substance reliance in later life  
 
Some research even suggests that life span could be increased.    
 
The PROCLAIM project aims to support all Middlesbrough schools to become AATI by 
2025.  
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1: School PROCLAIM SLA  
 
Recommendations 
That the Board endorses and supports the PROCLAIM initiative.  
 
Why is this being recommended? 
The PROCLAIM initiative is expected to improve the lives and outcomes of all children in 
Middlesbrough, and will be of particular benefit to the most vulnerable. 
 
Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 
The PROCLAIM initiative is a bespoke project designed specifically to meet the needs of 
children in Middlesbrough and to compliment other work being delivered in schools by 
partner agencies. 
No other LA driven strategy is able to address the specific needs of children as set out in 
the document so comprehensively.  
 
Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
There are no legal considerations and all safeguarding and GDPR regulations have been 
adhered to. 

Page 38



3 

Financial 
Schools have agreed to use ‘Pupil Premium Plus’ grant and ‘Children With a Social 
Worker’ grant to fund the project.  
No other funding is required. 
 
Policy Framework 
n/a 
 
Equality and Diversity 
The project promotes equality and diversity in all aspects of its delivery. 
 
Risk 

1. Schools may not want to take part in the initiative, resulting in some children 
missing out. 

2. Schools may not embrace all aspects of the work and hence derive lower impact. 
3. Schools may find the changes necessary too great, and decide to drop out resulting 

in reduced impact.  
 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 
The Board is asked to endorse the initiative. 
 
Background papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
Contact:  Victoria Banks 
Email:  Victoria_Banks@Middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 
 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



PROCLAIM 
Providing Rich Opportunities for Children who are Looked After In 

Middlesbrough 

                                   
 
 
 

 

Authors  

Victoria Banks, Middlesbrough VSH  

Lisa Garforth , Middlesbrough Specialist 

Senior Educational Psychologist 

July 2022 

P
age 41



PROCLAIM: Providing Rich Opportunities for Children who are Looked 

After in Middlesbrough 

 
 

Children in care and those with a social worker are 

disproportionately likely to have undergone traumatic 

experiences and/or to have had difficulty building positive 

relationships with adults. Evidence shows adverse experiences 

can negatively impact on their educational pathways and 

outcomes (Luke & O'Higgins, 2018). This project is developed to 

support school-wide practice designed to ameliorate these 

circumstances and support positive life outcomes. 

There has been a growth in the use of attachment-aware and 

trauma-informed (AATI) practice in schools. There is no specific 

formula for AATI schools, but by adopting policies and practices 

that emphasise emotional regulation, trust and positive 

relationships, drawing on academic research from psychology 

and neuroscience, schools can become AATI in a way that fits 

with the wider school ethos and needs. Growing evidence 

suggests that AATI schools increase engagement, harness 

positive relationships reduce the use of sanctions and have 

stronger learning outcomes. 

P
age 42



  Vision 

  Our vision is to ensure that all Middlesbrough education settings are Attachment Aware and Trauma Informed in their 

practice, for the benefit of their whole learning communities, by 2025.  

   

  Mission  

  Our mission is to have a universal language of attachment and trauma across Middlesbrough, underpinned by training, 

supervision, support and challenge, which will drive excellent outcomes for all children and young people, particularly 

those who are most vulnerable.   

 

  Purpose  

  Our purpose is to address the needs of children and young people in Middlesbrough. As professionals working in the 

fifth most deprived Local Authority area in England, with increasing levels of deprivation, we are acutely aware of the 

vulnerabilities experienced by many of our children, young people, families and communities.  In education, we have 

witnessed further significant increases in children and young people requiring alternative provision, being referred for 

Education, Health and Care needs assessments, being persistently absent and being subject to permanent exclusions 

from our educational settings.  This data, coupled with increases in children and young people requiring social care 

intervention, support from mental health services and the lasting impact of the global pandemic, highlights an ever-

growing need to provide environments that are rich in positive and nurturing relationships and one where our children 

and young people can achieve their potential, ‘grow and prosper’ (SEND strategy 2020-2024).    

 

P
age 43



PROCLAIM: 6 key elements  

 

The ARC
Memebership and 

matrix  

AATI 

Whole school 
training

HeadStart 
Pathway 

PROCLAIM Leads 
Reflective 

Supervision
Network meetings 

P
age 44



The Attachment Research Community (ARC) membership 

Each school signed up to PROCLAIM  are provided with ARC membership. ARC is a national charity – patron Sir John Timpson 

- that supports schools and settings to develop best attachment and trauma-aware practice. The ARC works with schools, 

settings, trainers, psychologists and academics locally, regionally and nationally to share and develop best practice as well as 

providing support for whole school development. The ARC pathway provides support for school development. It gives formal, 

national recognition to key stages on the journey from ARC membership, to Bronze, Silver, Gold and Hub centre of excellence. 

Utilising the ARC Audit, Development Plan, members have access to online self-evaluation, development planning and project 

management tools to enable them to complete their journey. 

The ARC also provides school staff with the ARC Matrix. The Matrix is a detailed assessment and planning structure for 

understanding and developing work on attachment and 

trauma. The Matrix is designed as a ‘top-down’ and 

‘bottom-up’ approach, giving senior leaders a 

comprehensive overview of their individual school’s 

development and an understanding of their 

journey, aligning them to Ofsted Education Inspection 

Framework (EIF) and the National Professional 

Qualifications (NPQ) framework. Once schools have 

completed the ARC Matrix, whole school AATI training is 

provided including; understanding attachment, promoting 

educational achievement, trauma-sensitive practices, 

healing centred approaches, relationships, regulation and 

resilience, steps and theory of emotion coaching and 

knowledge to practical intervention. 

P
age 45



The Journey Through Care 

Schools staff will also benefit from ‘The Journey Through Care’ training provided by The Care Leaders, offering schools training 

that shares insights, experiences and knowledge from lived experience leaders. In school, PROCLAIM leads will benefit from 

6 Sessions of Online and On-demand, 60-90mins sessions that are CPD Accredited. PROCLAIM leads will:  

 

 

  

P
age 46



HeadStart 

Children and young people are kept at the heart of the PROCLAIM project, supported by HeadStart. The HeadStart team will 

support the PROCLAIM programme by engaging with students across the schools by using the HeadStarters pathway. Using 

a resilience framework, the modules of the pathway have been designed to explore a range of topics to educate and upskill 

students. The framework will be used to develop specific sessions to understand: 

 

. 

P
age 47



PROCLAIM Leads 

Change can be a challenge and the journey to AATI practice can be difficult. Secondary trauma is something that must be 

recognised and mitigated for all frontline professionals. Secondary trauma is an indirect experience of or exposure to a 

traumatic event; for example, hearing a first-hand account of an event given by a survivor can be a traumatic and emotionally-

challenging experience for the person receiving it. As part of the PROCLAIM offer, school staff are provided with: 

 

A qualified and experienced Clinical Psychologist supervisor who will oversee 
and facilitate reflective supervision sessions with school leaders and staff.  This 
will be delivered each half term, either virtually or face to face. 

Supportive challenge to thinking and practice; this will remain non-
judgemental.  

Reflective supervision that is confidential, respectful and delivered in a safe 
space.  This can work flexibly and be tailored to individual school needs e.g. 
group, individual or both.  

P
age 48



Network 

The PROCLAIM Network is an ongoing half - termly meeting where a team of professionals, including members of the 

PROCLAIM strategic group, meet regularly to share good practice and research in the area of attachment and trauma. They 

will also include guest appearances from other trained professionals from services across Middlesbrough and beyond.   

Three-year plan  

PROCLAIM will be delivered in three phases across 3 years to support all Middlesbrough Schools 

 

  

Phase 3

2024-2025

All schools   

Phase 1  

2022-2023

10 schools 

Phase 2

2023-2024

10 + 10 

“A large proportion of schools,  

who received attachment and trauma  

awareness training, had experienced 

an  

improvement in outcomes for 

vulnerable  

children”  

Alex Timpson Attachment and Trauma Awareness in Schools Programme – 

Working Paper 5 

P
age 49



PROCLAIM, the journey so far  

This year we have made good strides in ensuring all Middlesbrough education settings are working towards becoming AATI  

We have: 

 Created a PROCLAIM model 

 Galvanised a strong and collaborative strategic group  

 Launched the PROCLAIM project to schools  

 Had a high number of expressions of interest to participate in PROCLAIM  

 Selected 10 schools for the first phase  

 Agreed the contract and conditions of delivery with schools  

 

 

PROCLAIM Model  

P
age 50



Appendix  

Schools Phase 1  
Secondary  

Outwood 

Academy 

Ormesby 

Outwood 

Academy 

Riverside  

Kings Academy 

Trinity 

Macmillan 

Acklam Grange 

School 

Primary  

Abingdon 

Green Lane  

Newport 

Specialist  

Hollis (SEMH) 

Beverley (ASD) 

  

 
 

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

PROCLAIM – Providing Rich Opportunities for Children who 
are Looked After In Middlesbrough 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Contract  
 

 

 

 

 
 

Autumn 2022 – Autumn 2023 
 

School / setting: _____________________________________________ 

Date Signed Name Title / Role 

30th June 2022  
 

 
 
 

Head Teacher  

30th June 2022  
 

  
 
I confirm that the Head 
Teacher is aware and 
approves this               

Page 53



 

 

Contract 
 We support the ethos and aspirations of PROCLAIM to develop the capacity of school staff to 

meet the attachment and trauma needs for the benefit of the whole learning community.  

 We accept that working on attachment and trauma is challenging for all involved.  The project 

provides considerable support but cannot cover all issues that will arise and we will take 

responsibility for issues that require support over and above what the project provides. 

 We understand that if we do not engage in the project commitments, we will be charged for 

the proportion of the project cost for our school that has been paid by the Local Authority. 

 We will support and fully participate in all elements of the PROCLAIM programme. These 

elements are set out below and in the calendar of events (Appendix 1): 

 

1. A 3 hour session for each Senior Leadership Team (SLT) covering the Attachment Research 

Community’s (ARC’s) attachment aware and trauma informed audit tool  

2. A half-day session for all schools to share development plans and work on any shared goals together  

3. Each school selects two staff – at least one must be a member of the SLT – who will be project leads 

and undertake the following PROCLAIM elements:  

a. be the main contact for the school; 

b. attend network and steering sessions. These groups will look at key challenges for adults, 

children and young people, provide opportunities for systemic formulation and share learning. 

They will take place once every half term and last between 1.5-2 hours; 

c. attend at least termly (ideally half termly) supervision. 

4.  Ensure that staff access a proportion of the allocated supervision.  This will be available for 

individuals and groups of staff each half term – up to a maximum of 3 hours.  This will provide school 

staff with a confidential space for reflection and development.  

5. Ensure that staff attend all allocated training.  

6. Work with parents, carers, young people and governors to ensure messages and strategy is shared. 

7. Participate in our offer of termly case consultation around a child or children to explore theory in 

practice [done via network sessions or supervision].   

8. Each school to contribute, on a termly basis, a case study covering anecdotal and anonymised data 

evidencing programme impact. The data included will be that typically collected by schools, and 

may also include young people and adults’ views, and measurements of emotional wellbeing and 

development (template to be shared with staff during network meetings).  

9. Send Key Performance Indicators on a termly basis. 

10. Support pupils to engage in the young person’s group and complete the Pupil Perceptions survey.  

11. Complete end of year evaluations (including the ARC Audit, Pupil Perceptions and KPI’s). 

 

Staff will also agree to:  

 No fixed or permanent exclusion of any child with a social worker or previous CLA without prior 

discussion with Victoria Banks, Virtual School Head Teacher. 

 Support schools who participate in phase 2 and 3 of PROCLAIM by sharing experiences, 

successes and areas of development.   

Page 54



 

 

Appendix 1  

Calendar for schools  
Date  Event  

Friday 27th May  Final Expression of interest in for Phase 1. 

Friday 24th June  Phase 1 – pilot schools meeting  

- Discussion of contracts  

- Discussion of vision, mission and purpose 

- Discussion of KPIs 

September – October half term 

2022 

Each school have an audit and development plan session with 

members of the SLT – (3 hour slot). 

Each school to share their development plan in a joint session 

between the 10 ‘phase 1’ schools – (1/2 day session). 

Autumn 1 2022 Network meeting for two attachment leads per school (one 

SLT member) (1.5-2 hours).  

October half term – July 2023 (into 

Autumn 1 2023 if needed) 

Training delivery and staff support  

- AC Education (1 x whole school day or twilights)  

- Care Leaders (6 x online sessions) 

- ABC/A Time 4 You counselling - staff supervision (1 x 3 
hour session per half term) 

- EP support (email/phone call) 
Autumn 2 2022 Network meeting – plus steering group. 

Staff to submit first set of KPI data and case study. 

Spring 1 2023 Network meeting. 

Spring 2 2023 Network meeting – plus steering group. 

Staff to submit second set of KPI data and discuss case studies. 

Spring 2 2023 Phase 2 launch. Some of current schools to share experience 

so far with phase 2/3 schools. 

Summer 1 2023 Network meeting  

Summer 2 2023 Network meeting – plus steering group. 

Staff to submit third set of KPI data and discuss case studies. 

Autumn 2023 onwards Network and steering group to continue throughout phase 2 

and 3. 

Phase 1 schools to champion project and support phase 2/3 

schools. 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

 

Report of: Kay Dargue, Head of South Tees Youth Justice Service 

 

 

Submitted to: Corporate Parenting Board- 29.11.22 

 

Subject: Annual update from South Tees Youth Justice Service 

 

Contribution to the guiding principles of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 

Your Home 

The service work closely with Cleveland Police and residential homes to ensure children 

who are looked after are not unnecessarily criminalised in their homes.  

Your Family and Friends 

Your Education 

Your Adult Life 

Your Health and wellbeing 

The service has adopted a trauma informed approach to practice, and a pathway has been 

developed with FCAMHS for young people with complex needs. 

Your Voice and Influence 

South Tees Youth Justice Service considers the voice of young people to be important in 

their work. Young people are listened to and their voice has influence as evidenced by the 

recent co-production approach to changing the service’s name. 

 
Is the report confidential or does it contain exempt information? 
 
No 

 
What is the purpose of this report? 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with an annual update of the work 
of South Tees Youth Justice Service, with specific reference to children looked 
after.  

 
Report Overview  
 

2. This report outlines the ‘offer’ to children who are looked after and also open to 

South Tees Youth Justice Service. Some brief caseload demographic information is 

included within the main body of this report to provide some context to the Board. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 10



2 

This report will focus upon the key achievements in the last twelve months and 

planned development going forwards.  

 
Report Background 
 

3. The Youth Justice Board (YJB) are clear that the justice system must see “children 
as children first, and offenders second”. In line with the Child First vision, the YJB 
wants to make sure that children are not unnecessarily criminalised as a result of 
their vulnerabilities and the challenges they face. South Tees Youth Justice Service 
is aligned to the values of the YJB, and the ‘child first, offender second’ ethos has 
been used to inform the values and principles which underpin our work with young 
people and their families.  
 

4. South Tees Youth Justice Service (STYJS) have strong partnership arrangements 
with children’s safeguarding services at strategic and operational levels and engage 
at a managerial level at a number of multi-agency forums designed to ensure the 
safety and wellbeing of young people. Reducing the number of Children who are 
Looked After in the criminal justice system is a key priority for STYJS. We seek to 
work proactively with those young people who experience significant vulnerabilities 
including children in local authority care. Our work with looked after children is in 
line with the National protocol on reducing unnecessary criminilisation of looked 
after children and care leavers 2018. 
 

5. The Board may recall from previous reports and presentations that STYJS offer a 
range of additional activity for Children who are looked after including;  

 
• Work with Cleveland Police and Children’s Home staff to ensure those young 

people in Children’s Homes who offend have their offending behaviour 
addressed appropriately, including the use of restorative intervention as a 
solution to minimise prosecution  

• Ensure active STYJS attendance at all planning or strategy meetings for 
young people with CLA status 

• STYJS safeguarding case managers provide an essential link to Children’s 
Services teams in both Local Authorities as well as providing advice and 
guidance to colleagues on safeguarding issues and processes.  

• Ensure all Intervention Plans for CLA are shared with young people, their 
carers and colleagues from Children’s Services 

• Joint supervision arrangements between STYJS and Middlesbrough 
Children’s Services are in place offering the opportunity to share decision 
making and agree strategies to meet the needs of young people known to 
both services.  

• A working agreement between STYJS and Early Help is in place to ensure 
joint planning and supervision arrangements. The agreement aims to 
reduce escalation in the criminal justice and / or looked after system by 
working collaboratively. 

• A YJS ‘single point of contact’ has been provided to the Multi Agency 
Children’s Hub. This offers MACH staff the direct opportunity for 
information and advice on young people known to our service.  

• MACH case admin have access to STYJS case management system 
‘Childview’ which allows for checks to be made as a referral is received 
by the MACH to ascertain if the case is open to STYJS and ensure that 
joint working commences at the earliest opportunity. 

 

Page 58



3 

 
 
 
Caseload demographic  
 

6. The vast majority of looked after children and care leavers do not get involved with 
the justice system, however they remain over-represented compared with others in 
the criminal justice system. We know that Looked after children (who have been 
looked after for at least 12 months) are five times more likely to offend than all 
children, and around half of young people in custody have been in care at some 
point. 
 

7. Information contained within the Local Authority Interactive Tool, shows that in 
Middlesbrough in 2022, 2% of children who were looked after had been convicted 
or were subject to a Youth Caution. This in line with the North East (2%) and 
national (in England 2%) figures.   
 

8. Between 1st April 2022 and 30th September 2022, the breakdown of cases open to 
STYJS was as follows; 

 
 

9. The table shows that the largest proportion of young people open to the service 
were white British boys aged 17 or over. 18.9% of cases open to the service in the 
last 6 months were children looked after, which is slightly higher than 15.5% in the 
same period last year. However, this figure can fluctuate and is not dissimilar to the 
other Cleveland Youth Justice Services.  

 
Key developments in the last 12 months 
 

10. In recent years Youth Offending Services across the country have sought new 
names and identities to shift the narrative from one which could have negative 

Page 59



4 

connotations i.e. the word ‘offending’, to more positive and strengths based 
language. In November 2021, work began with two young people (both of whom 
had lived experience of working with the service and one of whom was also care 
experienced) to devise a new name, logo, vision statement and mission statement. 
This co-production approach offered an opportunity to include the voice of our 
young people in the ‘re-branding’ exercise. The young people reflected upon their 
own experience, and how this had impacted upon them. The young people 
presented their work to STYJS Management Board, outlining the method and 
rationale for their decisions and later worked with a graphic designer to put their 
ideas into print. The new service name went ‘live’ on 1st July 2022, and all 
documentation has been amended accordingly. The new logo they designed has 
also replaced the old one on all documents. 
 

11. There are well developed joint working arrangements in place between STYJS and 
Children’s Social Care. This was highlighted in the last YJS inspection and 
continues to be a strength. The arrangement aims to ensure that the child’s care 
plan and youth justice plan are aligned, that risks are managed together, and the 
child is receiving co-ordinated support from a variety of partners. Audit activity is 
planned in the future to monitor these working arrangements, and any actions 
arising from these audits will be reported to the STYJS Management Board.    

 
12. The STYJS Management Board receives a performance report on a quarterly basis 

which outlines progress against our 3 key outcome measures. The 3 current 
outcome measures are: 

 

 To reduce first time entrants to the youth justice system 

 To prevent re-offending by children and young people 

 Reduce the use of custody for young people (both sentenced and remanded)  
 

13. The STYJS Management Board recently requested further information on the 
number of children who are looked after who are first time entrants to be included in 
the report to ensure we appropriately monitor and track these children and identify 
any issues which may need responding to from a partnership perspective. This is a 
positive development as this data may identify trends and offer the opportunity to 
intervene at an earlier stage. 

 
14. From April 2023 the YJB are bringing in ten new additional national key 

performance indicators to Youth Justice Services to ensure there is a clear 
understanding of how local multi-agency partnerships are operating, and provide 
transparency and accountability to help Youth Justice Management Boards, the 
YJB and Ministry of Justice to recognise progress and successes as well as to 
focus attention and support where there are challenges. One of the new KPI’s is; 

 
15. % children who are currently on either an Early Help (EH) plan; on a child protection 

(CP) plan or classified as Child in Need (CIN) or a looked after child (LAC) 
 

16. Therefore, STYJS will be required to report this information to the YJB on a 
quarterly basis from the new financial year onwards. 

 
17. STYJS have been working closely with Cleveland Police in relation to a project in 

the custody suite whereby young people will be provided with an opportunity to 
deliver an art project in the cells with the aim of improving the environment. Young 
people with care experience have already been involved in art project to date and 
will be consulted about a further project in relation to a potential new juvenile 

Page 60



5 

custody suite. This project is in it’s infancy however if a decision is made to take this 
forwards, liaison has already taken place with Children’s Services participation team 
to enable swift inclusion of young people with care experience to be consulted and 
have a voice in the development going forwards.  

 
Issues and challenges 
 

18. In order to gather information for the new KPI’s, systems and processes will need to 
be developed at pace to ensure required information is identified and recorded 
correctly to enable the statutory returns to be submitted in a timely manner. 
Discussion will need to take place with our case management system provider to 
ensure this information can be captured correctly.  

 
Next steps and actions 
 

19. The service will continue to work in partnership with Cleveland Police on the 
‘custody project’. The project is in very early stages and provides an exciting 
opportunity for our young people to be consulted in the design of a bespoke custody 
suite.  

 
20. The Ministry Of Justice has recently announced a ‘Turnaround’ programme which is 

being rolled out to Youth Justice Services nationally. The aim of the programme is 
to intervene earlier and improve outcomes for children on the cusp of entering the 
youth justice system. In practice this will enable STYJS will work with a wider co-
hort of children than previously and provide additional support at an earlier point to 
prevent escalation in to the youth justice system. Final guidance is due to be 
published imminently and the programme is currently expected to go live in April 
2023. 

 
21. STYJS plans to deliver targeted staff development sessions including ‘Awareness 

Raising on Care Leavers in Custody’ as part of the Principal Social Worker’s ‘Hot 
Topics’ sessions. The first session is planned in December, following which wider 
staff training on young people in custody will be offered to the Children’s Social 
Care workforce. 

 
Appendices 
 
There are no appendices to this report. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The content of this report is for noting by the Board.  
 
Background papers 
 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Contact: Kay Dargue, Head of Partnerships and South Tees Youth Justice Service. 
Email:  Kay_dargue@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 
 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board- 18 October 2022
	6 Kingfisher report
	CSPR Kingfisher Report

	7 Participation of Children and Young People
	9 The PROCLAIM initiative
	proclaim breifing paper
	PROCLAIM Contract

	10 South Tees Youth Offending Service

